5

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Chester County

Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROBERT ISAIAH GRAHAM,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000425

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

NOV 09 2017

SC Court of Appeals

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the sentencing court's imposition of a de facto life without parole sentence for the murder offense that Appellant committed as a juvenile violates the Eighth Amendment's ban on cruel and unusual punishment as set forth in Miller and its progeny?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 7, 2014, the Chester County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Robert Isaiah<sup>1</sup> Graham for murder, related to the shooting death of sixteen year old Shyheim K. Isaiah was seventeen years old on the date of the incident. R. 321.

On May 12, 2015, Isaiah appeared before the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr. and pled guilty, as indicted, to murder. Isaiah was represented by Michael Lifsey, and the state was represented by assistant solicitor Karen Fryar. R. 1. Sentencing was deferred so that the defense could complete its mitigation investigation pursuant to Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). R. 5, ll. 12-23; R. 13, ll. 9-18.

On February 22, 2016, Isaiah appeared for sentencing before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons. Isaiah was again represented by Michael Lifsey, and the state was represented by assistant solicitor Karen Fryar, solicitor Randy Newman, and assistant solicitor Julie Hall. R. 16. Following presentations and argument by the solicitor and defense, and allocution by Isaiah, Judge Gibbons imposed a sentence of forty-five years incarceration. R. 213.

This appeal follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant and his father are both named "Robert Graham," such that Appellant goes by the name of "Isaiah Graham" and is referred to as "Isaiah" throughout the proceedings.

## ARGUMENT

**The sentencing court's imposition of a de facto life without parole sentence for the murder offense that Appellant committed as a juvenile violates the Eighth Amendment's ban on cruel and unusual punishment as set forth in Miller and its progeny.**

### Introduction

Isaiah's mother and father were both hopeless drug addicts, such that even with free will, Isaiah never had a real chance for success in life. His father was generally absent, and his mother was consumed with her own mental health problems and crack cocaine. They had no idea how to deal with a child who suffered from impulse control and aggression problems. However, that does *not* lead to the conclusion that as Isaiah grows in the strict environment of the Department of Corrections, he is incapable of change and will not be suitable for release when he is much older.

As the Court noted in Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 2464 (2012), children have limited control over their own environment and “lack the ability to extricate themselves from horrific, crime-producing settings.” While children have a lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility, which leads to recklessness, impulsivity, and heedless risk-taking, their character is not as well formed as an adult's character. 132 S.Ct. at 2464. Thus, a juvenile's traits are less fixed and their actions are less likely to be evidence of “irretrievable depravity” or “irreparable corruption.” Id.; Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016). This concept – that you can overcome the circumstances of your birth – is grounded in science, social science, and common sense. Miller, 132 S.Ct. at 2464-65; see also R. 236 – 237 (Defense Ex. 2, pp. 22-24).

There were two theories regarding the shooting in this case, both equally tragic. The solicitor submitted that it was gang-motivated and that Isaiah realized later that he shot the

wrong person. R. 37, ll. 4-14. Isaiah maintained that he and the victim were arguing; when Isaiah thought the victim was reaching for a gun, he pulled out his own gun and fired it. R. 210, l. 7 – 211, l. 18; R. 234 – 235 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 20-21). Because Isaiah faced a possible sentence of life without parole following his guilty plea to murder, he was entitled to an individualized sentencing hearing pursuant to Miller and its progeny.

**The question for the sentencing court to answer was whether Isaiah was a child whose crime reflected transient immaturity or was one of those rare children whose crimes reflect irreparable corruption for whom a life without parole sentence may be proper.**

Tatum v. Arizona, 137 S.Ct. 11, 12-13 (Mem.) (2016) (J. Sotomayor, concurring). Instead, Judge Gibbons did exactly what the solicitor asked him to do – he treated Isaiah like an adult and sentenced him to forty-five years, which is the functional equivalent of a lifetime of incarceration.<sup>2</sup> R. 203, l. 18 – 204, l. 13; R. 213, ll. 4-10. Defense counsel argued both initially and in his rebuttal that the life expectancy is decreased for incarcerated individuals such that a term of years sentence “much more than 30 [years]” would be “effectively giving him a life sentence whether you use those words or not.” R. 200, l. 13 – 201, l. 9; R. 208, l. 19 – 209, l. 2.

Respectfully, if the judge does not ask the right question – whether the state has proven irreparable corruption beyond a reasonable doubt – he can never get the right answer. Here, Judge Gibbons did not find that Isaiah was irreparably corrupt beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus,

---

<sup>2</sup> In South Carolina, a murder sentence is not eligible for parole and must be served “day for day.” See S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-20 (“No person sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment for thirty years to life pursuant to this section is eligible for parole or any early release program, nor is the person eligible to receive any work credits, education credits, good conduct credits, or any other credits that would reduce the mandatory minimum term of imprisonment for thirty years to life required by this section.”); S.C. CODE ANN. § 24-13-100 (“For purposes of definition under South Carolina law, a ‘no parole offense’ means a class A, B, or C felony or an offense exempt from classification as enumerated in Section 16-1-10(d), which is punishable by a maximum term of imprisonment for twenty years or more.”).

he was precluded from imposing a de facto life sentence. R. 213, ll. 4-9; see Montgomery, 136 S.Ct. at 726 (“Although *Miller* did not foreclose a sentencer’s ability to impose life without parole on a juvenile, the Court explained that a lifetime in prison is a disproportionate sentence for all but the rarest of children, those whose crimes reflect irreparable corruption.”).

### **Relevant Facts**

#### ***Format of Sentencing Hearing***

At the sentencing hearing, the parties agreed that the solicitor would present her witnesses and evidence first, followed by the defense’s presentation. R. 19, ll. 9-17. The solicitor called the following witnesses: Lydia Young, Isaiah’s last supervision officer with the Department of Juvenile Justice (“DJJ”); Dr. Lisa Williams, the clinical director and supervising psychologist at DJJ’s Upstate Evaluation Center; Dr. Richard Frierson, who conducted Isaiah’s competency evaluation prior to the plea hearing; Molly Leake, Isaiah’s probation officer with the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services (“SCDPPPS”) at the time of the incident; and Wayne Alley, the administrator of Chester County jail. The solicitor also submitted redacted and unredacted copies of Isaiah’s interrogation video, various reports and evaluations from throughout Isaiah’s upbringing, and the competency evaluation report prepared by Dr. Frierson. R. 30 – 159; R. 254-299. Photographs of the victim were shown to the judge and three family members provided oral victim impact statements. R. 160 – 164.

The defense presented testimony from Dr. Susan Knight, along with her more comprehensive written report. R. 165 – 188; R. 215 (Defense Ex. 2). Letters of support from Isaiah’s former mentor and former middle school administrator were submitted, and Isaiah’s mother and father both spoke to the court. R. 188 – 192; R. 242-243. Following the presentation of evidence, defense counsel made his argument regarding the Miller factors, followed by the

solicitor's argument, and then the defense's reply. R. 164, l. 23 – 165, l. 10; R. 192, l. 7 – 209, l. 11. Isaiah was then given the opportunity for allocution before the judge pronounced the sentence. R. 210, l. 7 – 213, l. 3.

### ***Isaiah's Gestation and Birth***

Isaiah was born three months premature on September 8, 1996, and weighed two pounds and seven ounces. Dr. Knight testified that prematurity can affect cognitive development, including deficits in thinking, reasoning, and planning. R. 171, l. 16 – 172, l. 5. Isaiah's mother frequently used marijuana throughout her pregnancy with him, including in the first trimester, which Dr. Knight said was linked to neuro-developmental problems. Children exposed to cannabis in utero are more hyperactive, depressed, and have lower cognitive functioning. Sent. R. 171, ll. 4-16; R. 172, ll. 13-19. Thus, Dr. Knight opined that even a mentally healthy youth would have a brain that is less mature than an adult, but that these adverse developments in Isaiah predisposed him to experience an increased vulnerability to the “hallmark features of youth’ in his life, particularly in regards to impulse control, executive function, and emotion regulation.” R. 170, l. 9 – 171, l. 7; R. 222 – 223 (Defense Ex. 2, pp. 8-9); R. 231 – 233 (Defense Ex. 2, pp. 17-19); R. 239 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 25).

Dr. Knight also noted that newborn screening was positive for congenital hypothyroidism and recommended that rescreening be conducted as soon as possible. Dr. Knight was unable to locate any record of follow-up from that recommendation. She wrote: “Untreated congenital hypothyroidism can result in irreversible neurological impairment, manifesting as intellectual disability.” R. 223 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 9); R. 239 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 9 25).

### *Isaiah's Childhood*

Isaiah's parents separated when he was sixteen months old and eventually divorced. R. 223 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 9). His father was absent during Isaiah's upbringing due to alcohol and drug dependency, distance, and philandering. Dr. Knight opined that this lack of a strong paternal influence put Isaiah at a greater risk to adopt negative peer models and for delinquency. R. 234 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 20). Further, there was history of cognitive impairment and substance abuse on both the maternal and paternal sides of Isaiah's family. Isaiah was raised by a single mother, who struggled with her own cocaine addiction and mental illness. Dr. Knight found that the records revealed a family life that was "chronically dysfunctional" and lacked the consistent supportive family environment that Isaiah's special needs required. R. 173, l. 13 – 174, l. 7; R. 233 – 234 (Defense Ex. 2, pp. 19-20); R. 240 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 26).

Isaiah was first evaluated for mental health treatment at the Catawba Community Mental Health Center at less than two years old, due to his mother's reports of his poor sleep, aggression, and destructive behavior. The evaluator noted: "Mother admits at times feels she might hurt [Isaiah] in an effort to control him." R. 223 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 9); R. 233 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 19). At two and a half years old, Isaiah's mother again took him to Catawba. She requested a psychiatric evaluation due to aggression, hyperactivity, and defiance. She admitted using a "switch" for punishment and holding him down to enforce "time out." Dr. Knight agreed with the evaluator's notations that the cannabis use during pregnancy and the early modeling of harsh physical discipline may have contributed to Isaiah's aggressive behavior. Isaiah was put on a Clonidine patch (sometimes used in children to treat hyperactive behavior) for symptom control. R. 224 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 10); R. 234 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 20); R. 239 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 25); R. 292 (State's Ex. 12); R. 59, ll. 14-17; R. 111, ll. 4-6. Dr. Frierson, who conducted the

competency evaluation, said that children are not usually prescribed medication for behavioral problems at such a young age. R. 110, l. 25 – 111, l. 12.

At four years old, Isaiah was prescribed Risperdal (used for psychosis, mood stability, and agitation) and Adderall (stimulant used to improve concentration, distractibility and impulsivity), in addition to the Clonidine. At five years old, while still being treated at Catawba, Isaiah's mother reported that other family members were pressuring her to give Isaiah more whippings. He was continued on medication and diagnosed with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder ("ADHD"), combined type, and Oppositional Defiant Disorder ("ODD"). At age seven, Straterra (used for attention/concentration deficits) was added to Isaiah's prescriptions. The psychiatrist noted, although lowering Risperdal may be possible in the future, I will not consider this until the family system has an extended time of stability." R. 224 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 10).

Isaiah was hospitalized for psychiatric evaluations at ages eight and nine. Notably, though Isaiah had been stable on Risperdal and Straterra, in January 2005, the doctor took Isaiah off of his medications to "reassess symptomatology." Isaiah then became significantly worse, with increased impulsivity and behavior problems. R. 224 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 10). At his referral to Baptist Hospital on June 28, 2005, eight year old Isaiah presented as "thin" with "unkempt grooming," "restless psychomotor activity," "poor attention span," "initial insomnia and diminished appetite," with "threats of suicide, very low self-esteem." Though he was set to advance to third grade in the fall, Isaiah's reading and spelling skills were on a first grade level. Though there was a strong indication of "significant attention problem," Isaiah's electroencephalogram ("EEG") was normal and magnetic resonance imaging ("MRI") ruled out "organic disorders." Isaiah was put on yet another medication, Focalin, which appeared to help

his concentration and thought processes. He was discharged home to his mother on July 6, 2005, with diagnoses of ADHD and ODD. R. 225 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 11); R. 295 (State's Ex. 13).

Later that year, on November 2, 2005, Isaiah was admitted to William S. Hall Psychiatric Institute based on a referral from Catawba. He was discharged to his mother on November 17, 2005, having been switched back to a combination of Risperdal and Straterra. Isaiah's diagnoses were ADHD, ODD, Rule Out Borderline IQ, and Patient Preemie Exposed to Cannabis in Utero.

R. 225 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 11); R. 299 (State's Ex. 14).

Dr. Knight noted that the hospitalizations at eight and nine years old coincided with the peak of Isaiah's mother's relapse with crack cocaine use. In addition to drug use, Isaiah's mother struggled with multiple mental disorders that required ongoing treatment. R. 234 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 20). Michael Williams, who served as a mentor to Isaiah beginning when Isaiah was in the third grade, also noted that Isaiah's mother struggled with addiction and put her own well-being above that of Isaiah. Williams recalled Isaiah's positive involvement in little league football, and submitted: "He [Isaiah] was born with three strikes against him but when given exposure to positive activities, consistent attention, and love you could see signs of hope. Unfortunately that love and attention wasn't always available." R. 242 (Defense Ex. 3).

Following psychoeducational testing when Isaiah was in the third grade, he was classified as "emotionally disabled," making him eligible for additional resources like a self-contained classroom. Isaiah continued on psychiatric medications from ages nine to eleven. At age twelve, in the sixth grade, Isaiah was reevaluated by the school district and continued in specialized education classes. The evaluator also recommended mental health counseling with an emphasis on social skills training and coping skills. R. 225 – 226 (Defense Ex. 2, p. 11-12).

### *Isaiah's Adolescence*

Isaiah's first contact with the juvenile justice system was on January 29, 2009, when he was twelve years old and charged with simple assault and battery third degree for an incident at school. He remained on probation until August 24, 2009. R. 42, l. 3 – 46, l. 2. On December 14, 2009, Isaiah was charged with second-degree burglary for stealing bicycles. He pled guilty to trespassing on January 26, 2010 and served two weekends. He was put on indefinite probation and ordered to submit to a community evaluation. R. 46, ll. 3-24; R. 87, l. 4 – 92, l. 4; R. 254 (State's Ex. 9). Though the source of the information is unclear, Isaiah's probation officer was "notified" that he forced his way into a sixteen year old girl's bedroom but no sexual assault was committed and no charges were pressed. R. 62, ll. 14-19; R. 245 (State's Ex. 6, p. 1).

From ages thirteen to sixteen, Isaiah had multiple juvenile charges, including: March 1, 2010, charged with assault and battery for pushing his mother onto a bed near a second story window; August 1, 2010, charged with assault and battery third degree for threatening to kill mother with glass bottle; January 18, 2011, charged with public disorderly conduct for throwing things and antagonizing teacher; March 13, 2011, charged with assault and battery third degree for pulling a knife on mother after she pulled a knife on him; April 11, 2011, detained for contempt; April 25, 2013, charged with probation violation; and June 21, 2013, charged with probation violation. R. 46, l. 25 – 79, l. 22; R. 251 (State's Ex. 8).

Following the March 2010 incident and community evaluation, Isaiah was placed in a therapeutic foster home but was removed due to fighting on April 24, 2010. R. 47, l. 8 – 49, l. 8. On August 8, 2010, he was sent to Camp White Pines, from which he was successfully released to probation on November 14, 2010. R. 50, l. 15 – 52, l. 3. On March 15, 2011, Isaiah was placed in a therapeutic home in Camden. He was removed on April 11, 2011, after threatening

the foster parent with a fire extinguisher. Following a finding of contempt, Isaiah was referred to the Upstate Evaluation Center for a secure evaluation. R. 55, l. 13 – 58, l. 11; R. 93, l. 6 – 99, l. 7; R. 263 (State's Ex. 10). Isaiah was sent back to Camp White Pines on June 16, 2011, where he stayed until September 14, 2011. R. 63, ll. 5-8; R. 64, l. 22 – 65, l. 18. He was then continued on probation and admitted to the Carolina Children's Home in Columbia on October 20, 2011. He attended A.C. Flora High School until his release from the children's home on May 20, 2012. R. 65, l. 23 – 67, l. 6; R. 250 (State's Ex. 7).

On August 29, 2012, Isaiah was enrolled in the South Pointe High School, but he was expelled in November 2012, following several infractions for fighting and sexual misconduct. R. 67, l. 7 – 70, l. 24. On January 29, 2013, Isaiah's probation was transferred from York County to Chester County, where he was under "intensive supervision" of probation officer Lydia Young due to his continued involvement with the department. Isaiah expressed his discontent over the 11:00 p.m. curfew, was not enrolled in school, and admitted smoking cigarettes and marijuana and drinking alcohol. R. 70, l. 25 – 75, l. 15. Young eventually issued a warrant for a probation violation and Isaiah was detained on April 16, 2013. R. 75, l. 16-20. Following a May 1, 2013 hearing, Isaiah was placed with Excalibur Youth Services program in Greenville. He was removed from the Excalibur program on June 21, 2013 for marijuana use and fighting, and placed in a detention facility. R. 75, l. 21 – 78, l. 12. On June 24, 2013, Isaiah was sentenced to ninety days and sent to the Upstate Evaluation Center for an updated psychological evaluation. R. 78, l. 13 – 79, l. 11; R. 99, l. 8 – 88, l. 25; R. 286 (State's Ex. 11). He was placed in Pinelands Group Home on July 26, 2013 and released on September 12, 2013 because he completed his sentence. R. 79, ll. 12-19.

On cross-examination, Lydia Young agreed that the evaluations conducted while Isaiah was under the supervision of DJJ indicated that his behavior is the product of his unstable home life and that Isaiah adjusted well to a structured environment. R. 81, l. 8 – 83, l. 15; R. 214 (Defense Ex. 1). Young also testified, surprisingly, that she was not aware of any involvement of the Department of Social Services with Isaiah. R. 83, ll. 16-17.

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