ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Chester County  
Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2016-000425

---

RECEIVED

NOV 01 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Respondent,

THE STATE,

vs.

ROBERT ISAIAH GRAHAM,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.  
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 607  
Lancaster, SC 29721  
(803) 416-9367

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

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

In rebuttal, defense counsel claimed it would be inaccurate to suggest the state had been doing “great things” for Appellant during the course of his life while asserting Appellant should have been committed at a much earlier age. (R. pp. 207-208). Additionally, defense counsel argued Appellant’s actions were allegedly influenced by older gang members while contending Appellant needed to go to the prison to separate him from McClinton. (R. p. 208). Furthermore,

---

<sup>14</sup> During the solicitor’s remarks regarding sentencing, Appellant stood up from his chair and had to be directed to remain quiet by the sentencing judge. (R. p. 202).

defense counsel asserted there was a reasonable chance Appellant would not live for thirty more years while asserting a sentence of “much more” than that number of years would effectively constitute a life sentence. (R. pp. 208-209). Defense counsel then asked the sentencing judge to take into consideration the relevant factors from Miller and Aiken when imposing Appellant’s sentence. (R. p. 209).

Following those remarks, Appellant personally addressed the court, claimed he had cried for Victim, asserted he did not intend to kill Victim, and again blamed Victim for his own demise by stating Victim would not be dead if he had not “came at [him] how he came at [him],” (R. pp. 210-211). Additionally, Appellant opined he did not deserve a life sentence before once again blaming Victim for the killing. (R. p. 211). Furthermore, Appellant asserted it hurt him and his family that he was having to go through what he was having to go through, claimed he was remorseful, and asserted he was sorry for Victim’s family. (R. p. 212). However, directly after making those remarks, Appellant angrily confronted Victim’s family for allegedly smiling in the courtroom, informed them it should have been a sad moment for them, and contended “obviously” it was not a sad moment for him personally. (R. p. 212).

Thereafter, at the conclusion of the hearing, the sentencing judge indicated he had considered everything that had been presented to him along with the factors identified in Miller. (R. p. 213). He then sentenced Appellant to a forty-five-year term of imprisonment. (R. p. 213). At that point, neither Appellant nor defense counsel raised any objections to the sentence imposed on any grounds. (R. p. 213).

## ARGUMENT

**Appellant's constitutional challenge to his forty-five-year sentence, which he received for a murder he committed when he was just two months away from his eighteenth birthday, is not properly preserved for appellate review because Appellant did not raise any objections to his sentence during the sentencing proceedings and, therefore, cannot appropriately raise any objections to his sentence for the first time on appeal.**

Appellant, who was seventeen years old at the time of his crime, contends his forty-five-year sentence for murder violates the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. In support of that contention, Appellant raises a number of arguments. Specifically, he maintains: (1) his forty-five-year sentence constitutes a "de facto" life sentence and will unconstitutionally deprive him of "an opportunity for release at a meaningful point in time" during his lifetime; (2) the sentencing judge erroneously imposed the forty-five-year sentence without making a specific finding he was irreparably corrupt; and (3) the sentencing judge was not capable of making a finding of irreparable corruption in light of the mitigation evidence he presented, which he characterizes as "compelling." Importantly though, none of those arguments was raised to the sentencing judge. Instead, during the sentencing proceedings, defense counsel merely offered reasons why the defense believed a life without parole sentence should not be imposed for Appellant's murder conviction while specifically assuring the sentencing judge he was not arguing the judge could not impose the sentence he believed was appropriate under the circumstances. Moreover, after the forty-five-year sentence was imposed, defense counsel did not raise any objections, including the constitutional objections Appellant is now raising in opposition to his sentence on appeal. Because Appellant's appellate arguments were never presented to the sentencing judge, the sentencing judge was wholly deprived of an opportunity to consider them or rule upon them. Under those circumstances, Appellant's constitutional challenge to his sentence is not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot

appropriately be considered or addressed for the first time on appeal. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is "to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review." Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity "to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and **arguments**." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (emphasis added); see generally Unemployment Compensation Comm'n of Alaska v. Aragan, 329 U.S. 143, 155 (1946) ("A reviewing court usurps the agency's function when it sets aside the administrative determination upon a ground not theretofore presented and deprives the Commission of an opportunity to consider the matter, make its ruling, and state the reasons for its action.").

For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). If an issue—including a constitutional one—is not presented to and ruled upon by the circuit court judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State

v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); see In re Care and Treatment of Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 258, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Constitutional issues, like most others, must be raised to and ruled on by the trial court to be preserved for appeal.”). Critically, on appeal, an appellant is limited solely to the grounds raised at trial. State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997); see State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”).

Moreover, in the context of sentencing issues, a criminal defendant is required to contemporaneously object to an alleged sentencing error during trial in order to preserve an issue with a sentence for appellate review. State v. Salisbury, 330 S.C. 250, 276, 498 S.E.2d 655, 669 (Ct. App. 1998); see State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999) (“[A] challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review.”). Importantly, an appellant’s failure to timely object to or seek modification of a sentence in the trial court precludes him from pursuing the issue on appeal. State v. Winestock, 271 S.C. 473, 475, 248 S.E.2d 307, 308 (1978); see State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) (“No objection to sentencing was raised at trial and this issue is not properly before the court.”); State v. Shumate, 276 S.C. 46, 47, 275 S.E.2d 288, 288 (1981) (“A defendant’s failure to timely object to or seek modification of his sentence in the trial court precludes him from presenting his objection for the first time on appeal. Appellant’s contention was not advanced at the probation revocation hearing where the results were most favorable to him. By failing to object to or seek modification of the revocation sentence in the trial court he is now foreclosed from doing so on appeal.” (citations omitted)).

In the case sub judice, Appellant is seeking for his forty-five-year sentence for murder to be vacated on the basis it allegedly violated the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. In making such a contention, Appellant, who was seventeen years old at the time of the murder, maintains the sentence imposed by the sentencing judge was constitutionally infirm and must be vacated because: (1) a forty-five-year sentence constitutes a “de facto” life sentence; (2) the sentencing judge failed to make any specific findings he was irreparably corrupt and permanently incorrigible; and (3) the evidence presented during the sentencing proceedings—which he readily acknowledges addressed the various factors identified in Miller and Aiken—was insufficient to prove irreparable corruption and permanent incorrigibility. For those reasons, Appellant maintains he is constitutionally entitled to resentencing and “an opportunity to walk out of prison someday as an older, more mature adult.”

Importantly though, during the sentencing hearing, defense counsel did **not** argue to the sentencing judge a life sentence—or, more specifically, a forty-five-year sentence—could not constitutionally be imposed on Appellant following his conviction for murder, did **not** argue the sentencing judge was required to make specific findings on the record in regard to irreparable corruption and permanent incorrigibility before imposing a sentence, did **not** ask the sentencing judge to make any such findings, and did **not** argue the evidence presented was insufficient to establish a life sentence was appropriate for Appellant. Instead, defense counsel merely offered the defense’s view as to why a life sentence should not be imposed on Appellant while directly informing the sentencing judge he was not arguing the judge was without authority to impose the sentence he believed was appropriate under the circumstances.<sup>15</sup> See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315-316, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (recognizing an issue conceded during trial cannot

---

<sup>15</sup> Specifically, defense counsel stated: “I say all of this not to argue that you can’t decide whatever you want to decide in this case[.]” (R. p. 200).

subsequently be argued on appeal); cf. State v. Pearson, 286 Or. App. 110, 111-112, 398 P.2d 506, 506-507 (Or. Ct. App. 2017) (holding a defendant’s appellate argument his forty-year sentence for crimes he committed as a juvenile was unconstitutional in light of the United States Supreme Court’s decision in Miller was neither preserved for appellate review nor plainly erroneous where the defendant merely argued to the sentencing judge he should receive a shorter sentence and never suggested a forty-year sentence would be unconstitutional in light of his status as a juvenile). Then, after the sentencing judge imposed a forty-five-year sentence in Appellant’s case as opposed to a sentence of life without parole, defense counsel raised no objections to the sentence, made no argument the sentence was constitutionally infirm based on its length, presented no argument regarding the sufficiency of the sentencing judge’s findings, and made no requests for the sentencing judge to clarify the basis for the sentence.<sup>16</sup> Cf. State v. Vang, 353 S.C. 78, 85, 577 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2003) (finding any issue resulting from the trial judge’s failure to take a particular action was not preserved for appellate review because Vang did not ask the trial judge during trial to take the action Vang contended on appeal should have been taken). In fact, defense counsel said absolutely nothing at all.<sup>17</sup>

Because defense counsel did not raise any of the arguments Appellant is now attempting to raise on appeal, the sentencing judge was wholly denied an opportunity to consider, address,

---

<sup>16</sup> Notwithstanding the fact the sentencing judge was not asked to make any specific factual findings in imposing Appellant’s sentence, the sentencing judge was **not** constitutionally required to do so. See Montgomery v. Louisiana, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 136 S. Ct. 718, 735 (2016) (explaining a sentencing judge is **not** constitutionally required to make any specific findings of fact on the record when sentencing a juvenile offender pursuant to the guidelines of Miller).

<sup>17</sup> Significantly, the first time a contention was raised Appellant’s sentence was improper in any way was in the paperwork filed along with the notice of appeal. (R. pp. 326-327). In that paperwork, defense counsel asserted: “Appellant believes [his forty-five-year sentence] was excessive and not in conformity with Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014).” (R. p. 326).

or rule upon those arguments in imposing Appellant's sentence. See Queen's Grant, 368 S.C. at 372-373, 628 S.E.2d at 919 ("Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review." (citations omitted)). Critically, without first giving the sentencing judge an opportunity to address his constitutional claims regarding the propriety of his sentence, Appellant is precluded from raising those claims for the first time on appeal.<sup>18</sup> See State v. McCray, 222 S.C. 391, 394, 73 S.E.2d 1, 2 (1952) (finding McCray's appellate contention the sentence imposed was "cruel and excessive" was unavailable to him on appeal because that particular contention was not raised to the circuit court judge); see also I'On, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 ("The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred."); see generally In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) ("Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review."). As a result, Appellant's appellate challenge to his sentence is not properly preserved for appellate review and simply cannot appropriately be raised or addressed for the first time on appeal. See Johnston, 333 S.C. at 462, 510 S.E.2d at 425 ("[A] challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review."); State v. Walker, 252 S.C. 325, 327-328, 166 S.E.2d 209, 210 (1969) (declining to address Walker's appellate contention the sentence he received could not have properly been imposed "on the elementary ground that the question was not raised below"); see also State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393

---

<sup>18</sup> Notably, defense counsel merely asked the sentencing judge to consider the relevant factors identified in Miller and Aiken in imposing Appellant's sentence, and the sentencing judge expressly did just that. (R. p. 201; p. 209; p. 213). Under those circumstances, the sentencing judge provided Appellant with everything that was requested in regard to his sentence. See State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981) ("Inasmuch as the appellant obtained the only relief he sought, this court has no issue to decide.").

(Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court “cannot address unpreserved errors”); cf. State v. Gullledge, 321 S.C. 399, 404-405, 468 S.E.2d 665, 669 (Ct. App. 1996) (“Gullledge . . . argues the State did not prove she had the resources to pay \$210,000.00 in restitution and the trial court failed to state its findings and the underlying facts and circumstances of them. Because this argument was neither raised to nor addressed by the trial court, we need not deal with it.” (citation omitted)). Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.<sup>19</sup>

---

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